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1.0 Introduction  
 

An Architectural Conservation Area (ACA) is described as a place, area, group of 

structures or townscape, taking account of building lines and heights, that is of special 

architectural, historical, archaeological, artistic, cultural, scientific, social or technical 

interest or that contributes to the appreciation of a Protected Structure, and whose 

character it is an objective of a development plan to preserve.  Lower Market Street, 

Cootehill has been identified as an area that would benefit from designation as an 

Architectural Conservation Area (ACA).   

 

This report includes a map identifying the Lower Market Street, Cootehill ACA 

boundaries and a detailed description of the architectural character and special 

interest of the area.  Policies in this report aim to preserve and enhance the special 

character of the Lower Market Street, Cootehill ACA.  

 

It is intended that this ACA report  would work in conjunction with the Revitalisation 

Plan (2018) for Cootehill. 

 

Taylor & Skinner: Maps of the Roads of Ireland, Surveyed 1777 
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2.0 Location  

  
Cootehill is located in the north of County Cavan, close to the border of County 

Monaghan.  The oldest part of the town is at the south-western end of Market Street, 

centred on the ruined Church of Ireland church, which is located on an elevated site 

on Church Street.  The old town had a cruciform plan where Bridge Street and Church 

Street intersected Old Cavan Road and Market Street.  Lower Market Street developed 

later in the 18th century.  Market Street runs on a north-eastɀsouth-west axis and was 

improved by making it a long, wide, and straight street.  

 

Lower Market Street, Cootehill ACA is located in the core of the town at the north-

eastern end of the street.  

 

 
Lower Market Street, Cootehill ACA location map 
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3.0 Historic Development  

 
Sir Charles Coote was awarded ÃÏÎÆÉÓÃÁÔÅÄ /ȭ2ÅÉÌÌÙ land in County Cavan in 1605 for 

his service in the later years of the Nine Yearsȭ War.  He was a loyal soldier and he was 

politically astute which helped him rise in power and wealth.  He increased his land 

holdings by purchasing more land in Counties Laois, Cavan, and Roscommon.   

 

Sir Coote built a church in 1639 in the townland of Magheranure on an elevated site 

on what is now called Church Street, Cootehill.  The Down Survey Map dated 1654-

1656 of the area illustrates a castle and houses here.  This settlement developed into 

a village with a cruciform plan with Church Street and Bridge Street intersected by 

Market Street and the Old Cavan Road.  When Sir Coote died, his estates were divided 

amongst his four sons.  His youngest son Colonel Thomas Coote inherited the estate in 

County Cavan where he named and developed Cootehill.   

 

The name for the new burgeoning town is a combination of the names Coote and Hill 

and refers to Frances Hill of Hillsborough County Down who married Colonel Coote in 

c.1650.   

 

#ÏÌÏÎÅÌ #ÏÏÔÅȭÓ ÎÅÐÈÅ×ȟ ÁÌÓÏ ÎÁÍÅÄ 4ÈÏÍÁÓ #ÏÏÔÅ ÂÕÉÌÔ ÔÈÅ ÍÁÇÎÉÆÉÃÅÎÔ "ÅÌÌÁÍÏÎÔ 

Forest.  This Palladian mansion was built between 1725-1730 to designs by Sir 

Edward Lovett Pearse and it is considered one of the most important 18th century 

houses in Ireland.  

  

The early-18th century saw Cootehill rapidly develop into an important and 

prosperous town.  In 1725 Thomas Coote obtained a grant for a weekly market to be 

held in the town and an annual fair.  Having a market and fair in the town raised 

revenue for the local landowners and in turn for the Crown.  As explained in the report 

ÐÒÅÐÁÒÅÄ ÂÙ ÔÈÅ ȬCommissions appointed to inquire into the state of the fairs and 

ÍÁÒËÅÔÓȭ in relation to Cootehill dated 1853: Ȭ)Ô ÁÐÐÅÁÒÓ ÔÈÁÔ ,ÅÔÔÅÒÓ 0ÁÔÅÎÔȟ ÇÒÁÎÔÉÎÇ 

the liberty of holding fairs and markets, with the right of levying a toll on the articles 

of traffic sold therein, were first issued in the reign of King James I, and have been 

ÇÒÁÎÔÅÄ ÓÉÎÃÅ ÔÈÁÔ ÔÉÍÅ ÂÙ ÅÁÃÈ ÓÕÃÃÅÓÓÉÖÅ ÓÏÖÅÒÅÉÇÎȢȭ 

 

Cootehill prospered in the late-18th and early-19th centuries as a result of being at the 

centre of the linen trade in north-east Ulster.  Settlers from other parts of Ireland, 

Britain , and Europe came to live in Cootehill and were skilled in the production of 

linen.  Cootehill became a mixing pot of religious and political beliefs.  Churches were 

built  to serve the new congregations. Cootehill had churches and meetinghouses for 

the Scot-Presbyterians, the Quakers, the Moravians, the Methodists, the Seceding, and 

the Roman Catholics.   
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By the end of the 18th century Thomas Coote had extended Market Street northwards 

to create a long wide and straight street.  This was a popular devise employed by 

landowners and there are many towns in County Cavan with planned, straight main 

streets often with a new church at the end of the street.  The market house was built 

at this end of Market Street on the eastern side in 1806.  The new Church of Ireland 

church was built at the northern end of Market Street in 1819 thus creating a dramatic 

termination of that vista.  Finally the court  house, which survives still, was built in 

1832 to replace an earlier court house.  These buildings formed a collection of fine 

civic buildings at this end of Market Street.     

 

The cottage linen industry in Cootehill went into sharp decline after 1825 with the 

introduction of mechanised production in Belfast and Armagh.  The town was 

delivered a further blow when the impact of the 1845-1851 famine was felt.  The 

Cootehill Union workhouse was built in 1841-1842 to accommodate 800 inmates.  

Rural dwellers struggling to survive, travelled to urban centres in the hope of sourcing 

food.  An outbreak of typhus in the town in 1846 had a further devastating effect.  

Between 1845-1851 County Cavan lost 43% of its population and Cootehill was a town 

in decline.   
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3.1 Historic Photographs   

 

 
Photograph from the VÁÌÅÎÔÉÎÅ #ÏÌÌÅÃÔÉÏÎ ÏÆ Ȭ#ÈÕÒÃÈ ÁÎÄ -ÁÉÎ 3ÔÒÅÅÔȭ 

Taken between 1930-1950 

Source: National Library of Ireland 

 

 
Comparison photograph taken 19 March 2018 

 

A comparison between both photographs illustrates that whilst the church and north-

western side of the street remains relatively untouched the south-eastern side of the 

street has suffered due to the loss of the corner-sited building, now the location of the 

post office. 
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Photograph from the Eason Photograph Collection of Market Street on market day 

 Taken between 1900-1939 

Source: National Library of Ireland 

 

The photograph above illustrates a thriving market day on Market Street in Cootehill.  

The straight, wide street is lined by two and three-storey tall buildings and the view 

up Market Street is terminated by All Saints Church of Ireland church.   
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3.2 Historic Maps  

 

 
The Down Survey map abstract of County Cavan.  Maghe, modern townland name is Magheranure  

 

The Down Survey map of Ireland was surveyed 1654-1656 under the direction of Sir 

William Petty.  The ambitious undertaking to map property boundaries throughout 

Ireland was to facilitate the confiscation and redistribution of land owned by Catholics 

and Royalist rebels.  Illustrated above is the townland of Maghe, now known as 

Magheranure.  Cootehill is located in Magheranure.  Illustrated in the townland are 

three significant buildings including a large house and a church.  This map illustrates 

the earlier village at Magheranure before it was renamed Cootehill.   

 
The Taylor and Skinner map on page two of this report il lustrates the town of Cootehill 

in 1777.  The map shows that most development occurs at the south-western end of 

the town where Church Street and Bridge Street intersect Old Cavan Street.  This is the 

old centre of the town, and remains of the earlier church and burial ground still survive 

at that location. Lower Market Street was developed in the early to mid-19th century 

with the construction of the market house in 1806, the new church in 1819, and the 

court house in 1832.    
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Ordnance Survey Map of County Cavan 

Sheet 17, Surveyed 1836 

 

 

4ÈÅ /ÒÄÎÁÎÃÅ 3ÕÒÖÅÙȭÓ ÅÁÒÌÉÅÓÔ ÍÁÐ ÏÆ #ÏÏÔÅÈÉÌÌ ×ÁÓ surveyed in 1836 and documents 

the development of the town.  This map illustrates Cootehill at its peak, just before the 

ravages of the famine would take its toll.  It is a large town with a long wide main street 

and secondary streets.  It is interesting to note the large number of churches in the 

town.   

 

The north-eastern end of the street has been laid-out and developed by this time.  The 

court house and church are labelled correctly but the former market house, built 30 

years before this map was surveyed, is labelled Ȭ"ÁÒÒÁÃËȭ.  It is unlikely this was an 

error but could the market house have been used as a Ȭ"ÁÒÒÁÃËȭ at this time?   

 

The structures that now occupy part of the former White Horse Hotel on the western 

side of Market Street had a shared lane between two houses giving access to the rear 

sites.   

 

The building adjacent to the church, located on the north-western side of the street, 

has extensive rear gardens.  It is understood members of the Coote Family once 

occupied this house.  The house was demolished to provide a site for the Provincial 

Bank buildings, which survives.   
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Ordnance Survey Map of County Cavan 

Sheet 17, Surveyed 1878 

 

The second edition Ordnance Survey map of Cootehill was surveyed in 1878 and 

published in 1880.  There has been a significant addition to Lower Market Square with 

the construction of the new Provincial Bank in 1858 to designs by William Murray.  

This building is best viewed when approaching Market Street from the east on the 

Ballybay Road.   

 

The market house is now labelled with the constabulary barracks located at the rear 

of the court house.  Both the market house and court house are set back off the street 

whilst neighbouring commercial premises and houses maintain a building line 

fronting directly onto the public path.  The corner-sited building (now the location of 

the post office) north of the court house has been extended since the first edition 

Ordnance Survey map of 1836.  It now has a long and narrow projection extending 

long the Ballybay Road side of the property.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


